
TRAVERSE CITY PLANNING COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
WEDNESDAY, July 6, 2016 

7:30 P.M. 
Training Room 

Governmental Center, 2nd Floor 
400 Boardman Avenue 

Traverse City, Michigan 49684 
 

Posted: 7/1/16 
 

AGENDA 
 

The City of Traverse City does not discriminate on the basis of disability in the admission or access to or 
treatment or employment in, its programs or activities. Penny Hill, Assistant City Manager, 400 
Boardman Avenue, Traverse City, Michigan 49684, 922-4440, T.D.D., 922-4766, has been designated to 
coordinate compliance with the non-discrimination requirements. If you are planning to attend and you 
have a disability requiring any special assistance at the meeting and/or if you have any concerns, please 
immediately notify the ADA Coordinator. 
 
Planning Commission 
c/o Russell Soyring, Planning Director 
400 Boardman Avenue, Traverse City, MI 49684 
231-922-4778 
 
1.  CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
 
2.  ROLL CALL   
 
3.       ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
4. CONSENT CALENDAR 

The purpose of the consent calendar is to expedite business by grouping non-controversial 
items together to be dealt with by one Commission motion without discussion. Any 
member of the Commission, staff or the public may ask that any item on the consent 
calendar be removed therefrom and be placed elsewhere on the agenda for full discussion. 
Such requests will be automatically respected. If an item is not removed from the consent 
calendar, the action noted in parentheses on the agenda is approved by a single 
Commission action adopting the consent calendar. 
 
A. June 7, 2016 Regular Meeting and June 21, 2016 Study Session minutes (Approval 

recommended) 
B. Possible establishment of Traffic Calming Review Committee (Approval 

recommended) 



Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 2 
 

C. Brown Bridge Quiet Area East End Footbridge Project- Review for Consistency with 
Master Plan (Approval Recommended) 

 
5. OLD BUSINESS 

 
6. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Consideration of adopting Munson Medical Center Master Site and Facilities Plan 
dated June 14, 2016 (Approval Recommended) 

B. Consideration of Site Plan Review requested by Doug Mansfield, Mansfield Land 
Use Consultants on behalf of Northporte Development, LLC for the properties 
commonly known as 1106, 1120 and 1128 East Front Street for a pharmacy, coffee 
shop and retail building (Approval Recommended) 

 
7. CORRESPONDENCE   

A. Community Development Update- June 2016 
B. Land Use Ordinance Matrix 

 
8. REPORTS 

A. City Commission - Commissioners Richardson and Howe 
B. Board of Zoning Appeals – Commissioner Koebert 
C. Grand Traverse Commons Joint Planning Commission - Commissioners Serratelli and Warren 
D. Arts Commission- Commissioner Warren 
E. Planning Commission 

1. Master Plan Review Committee—Commissioner Dow 
2. Parking Regulation Committee- Commissioner Serratelli 
3. Traffic Calming Review Committee-  

F. Planning Department—Mr. Soyring 
1. Public Engagement Plan Committee- Commissioners Dow, Koebert and 

Fleshman 
2. Community Development/Economic Development- Mr. Soyring 
3. Capital Improvement Program- Mrs. Luick 
 

9. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
10. ADJOURNMENT 



 
MINUTES 

TRAVERSE CITY PLANNING COMMISSION 
Regular Meeting 

 
TUESDAY, June 7, 2016 

7:30 P.M. 
Commission Chambers 

Governmental Center, 2nd Floor 
400 Boardman Avenue 

Traverse City, Michigan 49684 
 

 
1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER- Chairperson Serratelli called the meeting to order at 7:30 p.m. 
 
2.  ROLL CALL- Mrs. Luick called roll for the Planning Commission. 
 

PRESENT: Commissioners Michael Dow, Janet Fleshman, Gary Howe, Vice-Chairperson 
Linda Koebert, Ross Richardson, Chairperson John Serratelli, Jim Tuller, Jan 
Warren and Camille Weatherholt 

ABSENT: None. 
STAFF: Russ Soyring, Planning Director; Missy Luick, Planning and Engineering Assistant 

 
3. ANNOUNCEMENTS- Mr. Soyring announced that the 8th Street Charrette next meeting that 

was tentatively planned for June 29, 2016 may be delayed to sometime in July. Mrs. Luick 
announced The Watershed Center received a DEQ Nonpoint Source Grant that includes a 
work item to partner with the City of Traverse City to improve preservation of urban 
vegetation for stormwater management and that the Planning Commission is likely to be 
involved in the work tentatively scheduled to begin this fall. 
 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
A. May 3, 2016 Regular Meeting minutes (Approval recommended) 

 
Motion by Commissioner Richardson, second by Commissioner Koebert, to approve 
the May 3, 2016 Regular Meeting minutes.  

 
Motion carried 9-0. 

 
5. OLD BUSINESS 

A. Northwestern Michigan College Master Site and Facilities Plan (Action Requested) 
 
Mr. Soyring summarized his communication memo to the Planning Commission dated 
June 2, 2016. He recommended an amended motion be considered that reads, “Based 
on the staff analysis provided in the Communication to the Planning Commission memo 
from the Planning Director dated June 3, 2016 and the attachments listed in the 
aforementioned memo, I move that the Master Site and Facilities Plan for Northwestern 



PLANNING COMMISSION 
MEETING MINUTES 
JUNE 7, 2016 
Page 2             
 
 

Michigan College main campus dated April 26, 2016 be approved provided the drop off/ 
fire lanes shown in front on the proposed residential buildings are reviewed for their 
necessity before their construction for the purposes of minimizing impervious surface 
drainage implications.”  

The following addressed the Commission: 

John Dancer, Cornerstone Architects 
Bob Vershay, Gosling Czubak 
 
Commission discussion.  
 
Motion by Commissioner Warren, second by Commissioner Howe, based on the staff 
analysis provided in the Communication to the Planning Commission memo from the 
Planning Director dated June 3, 2016 and the attachments listed in the aforementioned 
memo, I move that the Master Site and Facilities Plan for Northwestern Michigan 
College main campus dated April 26, 2016 be approved provided the drop off/ fire lanes 
shown in front on the proposed residential buildings are reviewed for their necessity 
before their construction for the purposes of minimizing impervious surface drainage 
implications. 

Motion carried 9-0. 

B. Capital Improvement Program (CIP) communication and project list (Action 
Requested) 
 
Mrs. Luick explained that the CIP adopted by the Planning Commission was 
amended by the City Manager’s office due to budget constraints and more than 
$1.5 million was reduced from the General Fund projects. A summary of the 
changes to the CIP was included in the packet. 
 
The document titled “Capital Projects selected for further review by the Planning 
Commission” identifies the projects that will be brought back to the Planning 
Commission for consistency with the Master Plan review was discussed. 
 
Commission discussion. 
 
Motion by Commissioner Richardson, second by Commissioner Warren, that the 
Capital Projects Selected for Further Review by the Planning Commission document 
as amended be accepted. 
 
Motion carried 9-0. 



PLANNING COMMISSION 
MEETING MINUTES 
JUNE 7, 2016 
Page 3             
 
 

 
6. NEW BUSINESS 

A. West Boardman Lake District project (Presentation and Discussion) 
 
The following addressed the Commission: 

Michelle Foster, LSL Planning 
Bob Doyle, Smith Group JJR 
Matt Hunter, CDM Smith 
 
Commission discussion. 
 

7. CORRESPONDENCE- None. 
 
8. REPORTS 

A. City Commission – Commissioner Richardson reported. 
B. Board of Zoning Appeals – Commissioner Koebert reported 
C. Grand Traverse Commons Joint Planning Commission - Commissioner Warren reported. 
D. Arts Commission- Commissioner Warren reported. 
E. Planning Commission 

1. Master Plan Review Committee—Commissioner Dow reported that after many 
meetings and some community meetings, the committee plans to move forward with 
recommending an edit to the current Master Plan while also moving forward with 
community visioning to give direction on a future possible Master Plan edit or rewrite. 
 
Commission discussion. 
 
Commission consensus is to proceed as described with the two-step process. 
 

2. Parking Regulation Committee- Commissioner Serratelli reported. 
F. Planning Department—No report. 

1. Public Engagement Plan Committee- No report. 
2. Community Development/Economic Development- Mr. Soyring reported. 
3. Capital Improvement Program- No report. 
 

9. PUBLIC COMMENT 
The following addressed the Commission: 

• Adrienne Rossi, 312 7th Street 
• Linda Koebert 

 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION 
MEETING MINUTES 
JUNE 7, 2016 
Page 4             
 
 
 
10. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Chairperson Serratelli adjourned the meeting at 10:02 p.m. 
 

      Respectfully submitted, 
 
Date: __________________________  ___________________________________ 

      Janet Fleshman, Secretary  



 
MINUTES 

TRAVERSE CITY PLANNING COMMISSION 
Study Session 

 
TUESDAY, June 21, 2016 

7:30 P.M. 
Commission Chambers 

Governmental Center, 2nd Floor 
400 Boardman Avenue 

Traverse City, Michigan 49684 
 
1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER- Chairperson Serratelli called the meeting to order at 7:30 

p.m.  
 
2. ROLL CALL   

Mrs. Luick called roll for the Planning Commission. 
 

PRESENT: Commissioners Michael Dow, Janet Fleshman, Gary Howe, Vice-Chairperson 
Linda Koebert, Ross Richardson, Chairperson John Serratelli, Jim Tuller, Jan 
Warren (arrived at 7:41 p.m.) and Camille Weatherholt 

ABSENT: None. 
STAFF: Russ Soyring, Planning Director; Missy Luick, Planning and Engineering 

Assistant; Tim Lodge, City Engineer 
 
3. PRESENTATION BY CITY ENGINEER, TIM LODGE, TO DISCUSS SIDEWALK MAP, STREET 

PATTERN BOOK AND PROJECT UPDATE (Discussion) 
 
Tim Lodge, City Engineer, presented to the Planning Commission regarding the sidewalk 
program, status of the street pattern book and a current project update. 
 
Commissioner Warren arrived at 7:41 p.m. 
 
Commission discussion. 
 

4. TRAFFIC CALMING (Discussion) 
 
Mr. Soyring explained that the current Neighborhood Traffic Calming Program has been 
in place since 2011 and has not yet been used perhaps due to lacking City Staff to 
complete the required traffic count and speed data, the thresholds that need to be met 
for the Traffic Calming Program to meet warrants and the requirement that residents 
pay for 25% of the cost for the improvement.  
 
Commission discussion. 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION 
STUDY SESSION MINUTES 
JUNE 21, 2016 
Page 2              
 

Commission consensus is to establish a subcommittee to review the existing Traffic 
Calming Program. 
 
The following addressed the Commission: 

• Adrienne Rossi, 312 W. 7th Street 
 

5. SITE PLAN REQUIREMENTS FOR MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT (Discussion) 
 
Chairperson Serratelli requested that this item be placed on the agenda due to a recent 
development placing mechanical equipment near the public sidewalk instead of on the 
rooftop or at the rear of the property. Current zoning provides requirements for 
mechanical equipment mounted on rooftops. 
 
Commission discussion. 
 
Commission consensus is to consider a text amendment to the zoning code at a future 
meeting.  

 
6. WEST FRONT STREET PLACEPLAN FINAL REPORT (Distribution) 

 
Mrs. Luick explained that the West Front Street PlacePlan final report will be discussed 
at the September 20, 2016 study session. In September, a possible recommendation for 
the Form Based Code section and a discussion and possible recommendation on the City 
Lot project and which alternative (if any) is preferred. 

 
7. PUBLIC COMMENT 

The following addressed the Commission: 
• Mr. Soyring announced that an additional workshop for the Envision Eighth 

Street project will be held on June 29 from 7-9 p.m. at the Park Place Dome 
• Chairperson Serratelli announced that the recent edition of Michigan Planner 

contained an article about housing that is worthwhile for the Commission to 
read. 

• Commissioners Koebert, Howe and Tuller remarked on attending the recent 
Congress for New Urbanism conference in Detroit. 

 
8. ADJOURNMENT- Meeting was adjourned at 9:31 p.m. 
 
       Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Date: __________________________  ___________________________________ 

      Janet Fleshman, Secretary  



    
 Agenda Item No. 4B  

 

  Communication to the Planning Commission 
 
FOR THE MEETING OF:  July 6, 2016 
 
                FROM:  Missy Luick, Planning and Engineering Assistant 
 

 SUBJECT: Possible Establishment of Traffic Calming Review 
Committee 

 
                 DATE:  June 29, 2016 
 
At the June 21, 2016 Planning Commission Study Session, the Commission discussed the 
existing Neighborhood Traffic Calming Program, Complete Streets Policy and the Infrastructure 
Strategy Policy.  
 
Commission consensus at the meeting was to establish a subcommittee to review the existing 
Traffic Calming Program. Commissioners Weatherholt, Howe and Fleshman expressed interest 
in serving on the committee. 
 
If you are in agreement with the establishment of the Traffic Calming Review Committee, and 
concur with the representatives on the committee, then the following motion would be 
appropriate: 
 
I move that the Traffic Calming Review Committee, a subcommittee of the Planning 
Commission, be established with Commissioners Weatherholt, Howe and Fleshman serving 
on the committee. 
 
 



    
 Agenda Item No. 4C  

 

  Communication to the Planning Commission 
 
FOR THE MEETING OF:  July 6, 2016 
 
                FROM:  Missy Luick, Planning and Engineering Assistant 
 

 SUBJECT: Project Review for Consistency with Master Plan for Brown 
Bridge Quiet Area East End Footbridge Project 

 
                 DATE:  June 29, 2016 
 
Pursuant to the Michigan Planning Enabling Act, the Planning Commission is being asked to 
determine if the Brown Bridge Quiet Area East End Footbridge Project is consistent with the 
Traverse City Master Plan in terms of location, extent and character. 
 
The Brown Bridge Quiet Area is city-owned property, but is located in East Bay Township. The 
Master Plan does not reference Brown Bridge Quiet Area directly. The Parks and Recreation 
Element has a goal to “develop the Boardman Lake and River as natural resources” and more 
specifically to “support the establishment of public access points along the Boardman Lake and 
River.” Another goal in the Parks and Recreation Element is to “concentrate on upgrading and 
maintaining existing parks and facilities.” Development of trails, boardwalks and bridges to 
access the Brown Bridge Quiet Area fit with the goals and objectives of the Parks and 
Recreation Element. 
 
Staff finds the proposed Brown Bridge Quiet Area East End Footbridge Project to be consistent 
with the Master Plan in terms of its location, extent and character. If the Commission concurs, 
the following motion would be appropriate: 
 
I move that the Brown Bridge Quiet Area East End Footbridge Project is found to be 
consistent with the City Master Plan in terms of location, extent and character. 
 
Attachments:  Letter from Steve Largent, Grand Traverse Conservation District 
  Brown Bridge Quiet Area East End Footbridge Project Description 



 

 

 
 
 
 
June 24, 2016 
 
Russ Soyring, City Planning Director 
400 Boardman Avenue 
Traverse City, MI  49685 
 
RE:  EAST END FOOTBRIDGE PROJECT - MASTER PLAN CONFORMANCE 
 
Dear Russ, 
 
As the land managers of the Brown Bridge Quiet Area for the City, please accept this letter and 
the attached supporting documents as a formal request to be placed on the agenda for the July 6, 
2016 City Planning Commission regular meeting to determine that the proposed placement of the 
East End Footbridge within the Brown Bridge Quiet Area is consistent with the City’s Master 
Plan.   
 
Please let me know if you have any questions or need additional information.    
 
Sincerely, 

 
Steve Largent 
Conservation Team Coordinator 
Grand Traverse Conservation District 
 
 
 
 
Cc:   Marty Colburn, City Manager 
 Brown Bridge Advisory Committee 
 
 
 
 
Attachments:  Project Description 

Site Plan 



 
East End Footbridge – Brown Bridge Quiet Area 

Project Description 
Background 
The City of Traverse City has owned the Brown Bridge property since the early 1900’s with the 
goal of constructing a hydro-electric dam.  That dam was constructed and put into operation in 
1921 until being decommissioned in 2005 and eventually removed in 2012.  During the 90+ 
years the dam was in place, the pond and associated 1310 acres of property were heavily used 
by recreationists.  
 
Early on recreational users recognized the need for a footbridge over the river to connect hiking 
trails in a remote location near the east (upstream) end the property.  Subsequently a bridge 
was constructed in the mid-70 by a group of Boy Scouts and soon became very popular with 
hikers.  The bridge was constructed using pilings (supports) in the river channel which 
eventually led to its failure less than 10 years later.  Since then, the City has sought permission 
numerous times to construct a replacement footbridge in the same location but ran into 
roadblocks each time with the MDNR’s Natural Rivers Program.   
 
The dam removal planning process which began in 2005 brought new focus and attention to 
the Brown Bridge area.  Coincidently a private landowner, who obtained an “extra” footbridge 
when he purchased a riverfront piece of property, offered to donate the bridge to the Grand 
Traverse Conservation District.  The Conservation District has managed the Quiet Area for the 
City since 1992.  The footbridge, which is 54’ long x 5’ wide, was engineered locally by Trison 
Engineering and fabricated by Actron Steel of Traverse City.    
 
A preliminary approval request was once again made to MDNR Natural Rivers Program 
personnel.  Recognizing the increased focus on Brown Bridge given dam removal and the critical 
need to accommodate the expected increased use, approval for the bridge was eventually 
granted.    
 
The most exciting part of this project is a request was made to, and recently approved by, the 
National Guard for air support to fly the bridge into this remote location as part of their training 
exercises.  The Guard is scheduling this project for late August.  
 
This project is also part of a request that was made last September by the Brown Bridge 
Advisory Committee to the City Commission for Brown Bridge Trust Park Improvement Fund 
assistance.  The City Commission approved $300,000 to support several projects at Brown 
Bridge.   The City Commission will vote on releasing $25,000 of the Park Improvement money at 
their July 5th Regular meeting.   
 
Location   
There is no physical address for the remote location of this site.  The GPS coordinates are 
44.649N., -085.476W.  The attached supporting documents show the aerial location of the 
project.   
 
Extent 
The footbridge is 54’ long x 5’ wide.  There are boardwalks planned for each end of the bridge 
to span the wetlands and connect the trail to the existing trail system.      
 
 



Character 
The proposed bridge is an angle iron truss type bridge designed by Trison Engineering according 
to Michigan Building Code with a live load of 100 pounds per square foot.   The bridge was 
powder-coated and spray-painted brown to blend in with the environment and protect the 
bridge from rusting.  The handrail system will involve using 4”x4” treated uprights with a top 
and center 2”x4” capped with a 2”x8”.  Galvanized fencing with 2”x4” openings will be used for 
safety purposes and to reduce the visual impact of the railing to river users.  MDNR Natural 
River program personal are requiring that project personnel keep the visual impact of the 
bridge as natural as possible.   
 

 
  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 

 
 
 

Footbridge being hauled to the staging area at 
Ranch Rudolf for pick-up by National Guard 
helicopter.   

Above – Remote location where footbridge will 
be placed over the River at Brown Bridge. 
 
Right – Engineer Joe Elliot and retired prison 
crew leader Al Strange discuss logistics.   



 
Site Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



    
 Agenda Item No. 6A  

 

  Communication to the Planning Commission 
 
FOR THE MEETING OF:  July 6, 2016 
 
                FROM:  Russ Soyring, Planning Director 
 

SUBJECT: Munson Medical Center Master Site and Facility Plan 
 

                 DATE:  June 30, 2016 
 
 
The Traverse City Zoning Code requires  the H-2 (Hospital District) zoned properties to have a Master 
Site and Facility Plan (campus plan). Please see sections 1358.01 and 1366.08.  The purpose of the 
campus plan is to provide a public record of the institution development intensions.  These plans 
may be useful for those citizens that are living or contemplating moving near the campus as they 
make their own decisions and plans.  The plan also helps the City plan for public upgrades that the 
future development may require.  Only developments that are consistent with the approved Master 
Site and Facility Plan and the Traverse City Zoning Code will be allowed.  Any development phase 
that generates at 500 trip ends or more will require site plan approval by the City Planning 
Commission.  Buildings taller than 60 feet would need to obtain a Special Land Use Permit (SLUP). 
The Planning Commission bases their approval of the campus plans based on the standards in part 
(d) of section 1366.08. 

All uses envisioned in the next five or more years are to be shown on the plan. The last review of 
MMC’s campus plan by the City Planning Commission was in 2012.  The proposed changes to the 
2016 campus plan are considered significant; therefore, a major amendment is necessary.  The 
Planning Commission is the approving body for major amendments. 

The revised campus plan shows Sixth Street being removed between Beaumont Place and Madison 
Street and a new street to be dedicated  about 200 feet north of the Sixth Street.   Such an action 
would need to go through a separate and formal street vacation and dedication process with 
meetings before the Planning Commission and City Commission.  The circulation plan sheet will need 
to be updated to reflect the new patterns of movement if Sixth Street is relocated to the north. 

The next phases for construction are focused east and north of the main hospital building.  The plan 
proposes to replace surface parking lots and a section of Sixth Street with hospital buildings and a 
parking structure a new development site has also been added just to the west of the new cancer 
center. 

During the staff review, most of the discussion was focused  the relocation of Sixth Street and the 
impacts  such a change would have on public utilities and circulation patterns for both the public and 
for emergency services and storm water management.   This is a part of the community that 
experiences minor flooding and drainage issues, although with the recent changes to daylight Kids 
Creek and recreating a flood plain for the creek,  the magnitude and frequency of stormwater 



flooding has been reduced.   For more detail information on these topics, please refer to Tim Lodge, 
City Engineer’s memo dated June 30, 2016. 

 

 To approve this plan it must conform to the seven standards listed in Section 1366.08(d). 

1. Whenever practical, the primary structures shall be oriented so that their main entrance faces 
the street upon which the lot fronts.  If the development is on a corner lot, the main entrance 
may be oriented to either street or to the corner. 

The plan is conceptual but the sidewalk connections to the building hint that the main entry will 
face the adjacent street.   This standard would be addressed during site plan review.   

2. Every principal building or groups of buildings shall be arranged as to permit emergency 
access. 

The Fire Department reviewed the campus plan and provided general comments.  It appears all 
future buildings can be arranged to permit emergency access.   The Fire Department would 
review the detailed site plans to ensure this standard and the Fire Code is met when building 
plans are submitted. 

3. Every development shall have legal access to a public or private street. 

This requirement is met. 

4. The plan, where possible, shall provide vehicular and pedestrian circulation systems which 
reflect and extend the pattern of streets, pedestrian and bicycle ways in the area. 

The pedestrian and vehicular circulation plan submitted shows existing bus stops, parking areas, 
streets and the sidewalk network.  This plan should show how these elements would adjusted if 
Sixth Street is vacated and relocated to the north. 

 

5. A pedestrian circulation system shall be provided which is physically separated and insulated 
as reasonably possible from the vehicular circulation system.  

The sidewalk network on the campus is fairly complete.  The recently installed sidewalks along 
Brook Street and on the east side of Beaumont Place are not shown on the circulation plan.   The 
plan should be updated. 

 

6. All parking areas shall be located in a manner which will reduce the visual impact of such 
parking areas from adjacent public streets. 

The plan indicates the large parking lot in front of the main hospital building will be replaced with 
a parking deck.  Three surface parking areas north of Sixth Street are proposed to be replaced 
with medical buildings.  These changes will help to reduce the visual impact of these surface 
parking lots.  



7. Where the opportunity exists, developments shall use shared drives and interconnect with 
adjacent properties to reduce travel distance. Unnecessary curb cuts shall not be permitted. 

This requirement is met. 

Staff is recommending the Master Site and Facility Plan be approved with the understanding that the 
general concerns or issues raised by staff will be addressed as part of site plan review and approval 
process.  Staff may require the traffic analysis study completed for the cancer center be updated at 
the time any large scale medical building is proposed or when the street vacation process is initiated.  
The circulation plan also needs to be updated to show existing and proposed routes.  If you agree 
with staff’s assessment of the five year master plan, the following motion would be appropriate: 

Based on the staff analysis provided in the Communication to the Planning 
Commission memo from the Planning Director dated June 30, 2016 and the 
attachments listed in the aforementioned memo, I move that the Master Site and 
Facilities Plan for Munson Medical Center dated June 14, 2016 be approved 
provided the  Circulation Plan is revised to reflect the existing and intended 
circulation pattern. 

In accordance with the zoning ordinance, if the Master Site and Facility Plan is approved, the 
Planning Commission Secretary will need to sign the plan.   

RS 
 
Attachments:  Master Site and Facility Plan for Northwestern Michigan College (dated 6-14-16); memo 
from Tim Lodge, City Engineer dated June 30, 2016. 
   
 
 



 
Memorandum The City of Traverse City 

Engineering Department 

TO:  Russ Soyring, City Planner 
 
FROM:  Timothy J. Lodge, City Engineer 
 
DATE:  June 30, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: Munson Medical Center: Five-Year Development Plan 
 
Changes from the previously approved Five Year Development were summarized by Munson 
Medical Center in their June 17, 2016 letter and include: 
 

1. Changes to development site #3 and #4 including relocating the existing right-of-way for 
6th Street   

2. Added development site #4a 
 
Our comments and concerns in regards to the plan are as follows:  
 

1. Public Utilities: With the information provided we cannot ascertain that there are 
adequate provisions for public utilities to serve all Development Sites. We encourage 
the applicant to develop an overall infrastructure improvements master plan in 
conjunction with implementation of this plan to identify potential conflicts, the need 
for public utility extensions and relocations and the general adequacy of public 
utilities. For example, the adequacy of the public water system to provide fire flows 
that may be required shall be examined in detail prior to initiating construction.  

 
2. Circulation and Parking: The Circulation Plan does not reference the relocation of 6th 

Street. It shows vehicular entry at existing locations including 6th Street, 7th Street, 
Madison Street and Medical Campus Drive at N. Long Lake Road and South Elmwood 
Avenue. Pedestrian circulation is shown consisting of existing sidewalks. Additional 
parking to meet future needs is not clearly identified. We are concerned with the 
unknown impacts this Master Development Plan will have on traffic circulation in 
the vicinity of the Medical Campus.  
 

3.  Future Development Zones and property boundaries may be impacted by existing 
street rights-of-way, storm drainage facilities, public utilities and easements which 
will limit the extent of development that can occur.  

 
4. Stormwater Management: Future Development Zones #1 and #C4 contain natural 

drainage features, flood plains or storm management systems which will limit the 
extent of development that can occur. The impervious surface calculations provided 



Memorandum 
June 30, 2016 
Munson Medical Center Five Year Development Plan 
Page 2 of 2  

encompass only a portion of the proposed and existing development areas and do 
not reflect the proposed conditions. A detailed report outlining anticipated impacts 
for stormwater management has been prepared under a separate process. Munson 
should formalize and provide to City. 
 
 



 

 
1105 Sixth Street                ( 231) 935-5000 voice      wwww.mhc.net 
Traverse City, Michigan 
49684-2386 

 
 
       ENGINEERING & DESIGN 
 
June 17, 2016 
 
Mr. Russel Soyering, AICP 
Planning Director 
City of Traverse City 
Governmental Center, 2nd Floor 
400 Boardman Avenue 
Traverse City, MI  49684 
 
Re:  Munson Medical Center, Master Site and Facilities Plan 
 
Dear Mr. Soyering, 
 
Attached are fourteen sets (13 @ 11x17, 1 @ 24x36) of the Master Site and Facilities Plans 
(MSFP) for Munson Medical Center dated June 14, 2016.   
 
The attached MSPF is an update of the last MSPF submitted to the City back in 2012.  Since 
the 2012 plan, much has been accomplished on the north end of our site.  Kids Creek has been 
relocated and restored, numerous buildings have been demolished, and the new Cancer Center 
has been constructed.  The 2016 plan represents a continuation of the 2012 plan, and lays the 
groundwork for our next planned expansion.  As we discussed in our preapplication planning 
session, our next planned expansion includes a parking deck on Development Site #2, a 
revised main entrance on Development Site #3, and a north expansion on Development Site #4.  
The main purpose of this expansion is to provide much needed replacement facilities for our 
Women and Children’s Services (Obstetrics and Pediatrics).  The expansion will also include 
Operating Rooms expansion for Surgical Services and replacements for medical and surgical 
beds.  To maximize hospital efficiency, it is critical this north expansion be contiguous with our 
existing main building.  To accommodate this adjacency, we are proposing to relocate Sixth 
Street toward the north.  On our MSFP, we are showing Sixth Street being vacated in its current 
location, and rededicated in a new location to the north. 
 
In addition to the relocation of Sixth Street, other than the background as built updates, the 
changes to the from the 2012 to the 2016 MSFP include the addition of setbacks to the future 
development site descriptions, revised property lines based on recent property acquisitions, 
revised impervious surface calculations, and the addition of stormwater management 
information. 
 
We look forward to discussing Munson’s Master Site and Facilities Plan with the Planning 
Commission on July 5th. 
 
Regards, 
Doug Wipperman 
Manager, Facilities Design 
Munson Medical Center 
 



 Munson Medical Center 
 Traverse City, Michigan 
 
 LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY 
 
 Main Campus (Approx. 74.24 Gross Acres) 
 
 

The land in the Southwest ¼ of the Southeast ¼ of Section 4, Township 27 North, Range 11 West, 
City of Traverse City, State of Michigan, described as commencing at the point of intersection of 
the centerline of Sixth Street and the centerline of Elmwood Avenue, thence South 1°12'20" West, 
530.16 feet to a point; thence South 89°47'10" West, 1314.17 feet to the North and South ¼ line of 
Section 4, Township 27, North Range 11 West; thence North 2°09'40" East along said North and 
South ¼ line, 530.42 feet to the centerline of Sixth Street; thence North 89°47'10" East, 1307.31 
feet along the centerline of Sixth Street to the point of beginning.  
 
EXCEPT, that portion leased by the Munson Medical Partners, more particularly described as: 
 
 “Parcel 6” on ALTA survey more particularly described as: 
  
 Commencing at the intersection of the centerlines of Sixth Street and Elmwood Avenue; 
thence South 89° 47’10” West, 1074.42 feet along the centerline of said Sixth Street to the Point of 
Beginning; thence South 01°28’32” East, 245.1 feet along the East line of the proposed Medical 
Office Building and said building line extended; thence along the Northerly edge of a proposed 
parking lot, the following courses: South 88°32’59” West, 49.46 feet; thence Northwesterly 12.57 
feet along the arc of a an 8.00 foot radius curve to the right, the long chord of which bears North 
46°27’01” West, 11.31 feet; thence North 01°27’01” West, 12.00 feet; thence South 88°32’59” 
West, 104.00 feet; thence South 01°27’01” East 7.97 feet; thence Southwesterly 23.92 feet along 
the arc of a 9.00 foot radius curve to the right, the long chord of which bears South 74°41’59” 
West 17.48 feet; thence leaving said edge of parking lot and along the back of the Easterly curb of 
relocated Red Drive (now Brook Street), the following courses:  North 29°09’01” West 19.56 feet; 
thence Northwesterly 33.38 feet along the arc of a 58.00 foot radius curve to the right, the long 
chord of which bears North 12°39’40” West, 32.92 feet; thence North 03°49’41” East, 71.57 feet; 
thence Northeasterly 80.24 feet along the arc of a 992.07 foot radius curve to the left, the long 
chord of which bears North 01°30’39” East, 80.22 feet; thence Northeasterly 31.62 feet along the 
arc of a 20.00 foot radius curve to the right, the long chord of which bears North 44°29’24” East, 
28.43 feet; thence leaving said back of curb, North 00°12’50” West, 20.00 feet to a point on said 
centerline of Sixth Street; thence North 89°47’10” East, 162.27 feet along said centerline of Sixth 
Street to the Point of Beginning. 
 
Said parcel contains 14.93 acres, more or less. 
Subject to the right-of-way for Sixth Street over the North 33 feet thereof. And any other 
easements or restrictions, if any. Recorded at Liber 0767 Page 883. 

 
AND: A certain portion of land situated and being in Sections 4 and 9, Town 27 North, Range 11 West, City of 
 Traverse City, Grand Traverse County, Michigan, more particularly described as: 
 

A parcel of land commencing at the South quarter corner of Section 4; thence North 2°08'53" East, 232.18 
feet (previously recorded as North 2°09'40" east) along the North and South quarter line of Section 4 to the 
point of beginning; thence South 89°47'10" West, 770.04 feet; thence South 1°55'50" West, 281.10 feet 
parallel with the West line of Section 4; thence South 86°09'22" West, 587.24 feet along the South line of 
Section 4 to the centerline of County Road 610; thence Southwesterly 223.87 feet along the centerline and 
the arc of a 781.31 road radius curve to the right, the long chord of which bears South 24°38'27" West, 
223.11 feet; thence South 32°50'50" West, 1.76 feet along the centerline; thence North 89°47'10" East, 



Munson Medical Center 
Legal Description 
Page 2 of 3 
 

1,500.61 feet to the Westerly right-of-way line of a 33 foot wide road;  thence North 15°03'40" East, 243.24 
feet along the right-of-way line; thence Northeasterly 218.64 feet along the right-of-way line and the arc of 
a 5,413.81-foot radius curve to the right, the long chord of which bears North 16°13'05" East, 218.62 feet; 
thence North 17°22'30" East, 81.47 feet; thence South 89°47'10" West, 189.81 feet to the point of 
beginning, containing approximately 13.84 acres. 
 
The land in the Southwest ¼ of Section 4, Township 27 North, Range 11 West, City of Traverse City, State 
of Michigan, described as commencing at the point of intersection of the centerline of Sixth Street and the 
centerline of Elmwood Avenue, thence South 89°47’10” West, 1307.31 feet along the centerline of Sixth 
Street; thence South 02°18’38” West, 33.03 feet more or less to the southerly right of way of Sixth Street 
also being the POINT OF BEGINNING; thence South 89°33’50” West, 772.06 feet; thence South 
01°55’50” West, 495.31 feet; thence North 89°47’10” East, 770.04 feet; thence North 02°09’02” East, 
497.39 feet to the Point of Beginning. (Energy Center Parcel lying north of Behavioral Health BLDG.)  
Said parcel contains 8.8 acres, more or less. 
 
Parcel B 
Part of the South ½ of Section 4 and Part of the Northeast fractional quarter, Section 9, Town 27 North, 
Range 11 West, City of Traverse City, Grand Traverse County, Michigan, more fully described as: 
 
Commencing at the West ¼ corner of said Section 9; thence North 00°54’19” East, 962.96 feet along the 
West line of said Section 9 to a point South 00°54’19” West, 300 feet from the centerline of County Road 
610 (Long Lake Road); thence East, 1613.66 feet; thence North, 1593.02 feet to the South line of a parcel 
described in Liber 462, Page 363; thence North 88°52’15” East, 1098.78 feet along the Southerly line of 
said parcel described in Liber 462, Page 363; thence North 14°08’31” East, 82.92 feet to the POINT OF 
BEGINNING; thence continuing North 14°08’31” East, 160.31 feet; thence Northeasterly, 218.64 feet 
along the arc of a 5,413.81 foot  radius curve to the right, the central angle of which is 02°18’50” and the 
long chord of which bears North 15°17’56” East, 218.62 feet; thence North 16°27’21” East, 81.47 feet; 
thence North 88°46’27” East, 1125.96 feet; thence South 00°00’59” West, 144.09 feet along the centerline 
of Elmwood Avenue; thence North 84°59’04” East, 38.66 feet along the North line of said Section 9; thence 
South 00°48’36” West, 98.03 feet parallel with and 40 feet Easterly of the East 1/8 line of said Section 9; 
thence South 88°49’37” West, 615.93 feet; thence North 01°10’23” West, 33.00 feet; thence South 
88°49’37” West, 145.20 feet; thence Southwesterly, 163.42 feet along the arc of a 333.00 foot radius curve 
to the left, the central angle of which is 28°07’02” and the long chord of which bears South 74°46’06” 
West, 161.78 feet; thence South 60°42’35” West, 418.47 feet to the Point of Beginning.  
 
Said Parcel contains 7.03 acres, more or less. 
Subject to the rights of way of Red Drive and Elmwood Avenue over a portion thereof.  
Subject to any and all easements, restrictions and reservations of record.  
 
Parcel C 
 

 Part of the Northeast fractional quarter, Section 9, Town 27 North, Range 11 West, Garfield Township, 
 Grand Traverse County, Michigan, more fully described as: 
 
 Commencing at the West ¼ corner of Section 9; thence North 00°54’19” East, 962.96 feet along the West 
 line of said Section 9 to a point South 00°54’19” West, 300 feet from the centerline of County Road 610 
 (Long Lake Road); thence East, 1613.66 feet; thence North, 1029.60 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING; 
 thence South 88°52’15” West, 755.39 feet; thence North 31°55’10” East, 589.03 feet along the centerline 
 of County Road 610 (Long Lake Road); thence South 58°14’00” East, 426.36 feet; thence Southeasterly, 
 89.01 feet along the arc of a 311.00 foot radius curve to the left, the central angle of which is 16°23’57” and 
 the long chord of which bears South 66°25’58” East, 88.71 feet; thence North, 69.16 feet; thence 
 Northwesterly, 51.78 feet along the arc of a 245.00 foot radius curve to the right, the central angle of which 



Munson Medical Center 
Legal Description 
Page 3 of 3 
 
 is 12°06’32” and the long chord of which bears North 64°17’16” West, 51.68 feet; thence North 58°14’00” 
 West, 426.18 feet; thence North 31°55’10” East, 17.00 feet along the centerline of County Road 610 (Long 
 Lake Road) ; thence North 88°52’15” East, 1537.32 feet along the South line of a parcel described in Liber 
 462, Page 363; thence South 09°27’57” West, 380.56 feet; thence South 00°59’40” West, 189.36 feet; 
 thence South 88°52’15” West, 1071.45 feet to the Point of Beginning.  
 
 Said parcel contains 20.88 acres, more or less. 

Subject to the rights of way of Red Drive and Elmwood Avenue over a portion thereof.  

Subject to any and all easements, restrictions and reservations of record. 

 
 
Plus, the following properties located north of Sixth Street, more particularly described as: 
 

Lots 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6 of the Westbrook Addition to Traverse City and Garfield Township, Grand Traverse 
County, Michigan (Development Site #1-Heart Center) (Located in the City) 1.35 Acres. 
 
Lots A, B, C, and the South 50’ Lot D, Westbrook Addition to Traverse City and Garfield Township, Grand 
Traverse County, Michigan. (Parking Lot on W. side Brook St. West of Heart Center) (Located in Garfield 
Twp.) 1.01 Acres. 
 
Lot 13, Block 1, Lay Park Addition to Traverse City, Michigan; EXCEPT: That part thereof lying within 
the circumference of a circle of 50 foot radius with the center thereof located on the centerline of Beaumont 
Place (formerly Monroe Street) on a point 17 feet south of the north line of said Lot 13 extended. 
AND: 
Lots 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23 and 24, Block 1, Lay Park Addition to Traverse City, Michigan; 
EXCEPT: The East 50 feet of Lots 21, 22, 23, and 24 thereof. (Tributary A and proposed Garden Apt.’s 
Parking Lot) 2.18 Acres. 
 
Lots 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23 and 24, Amended Plat of Lots 1 through 24 
and vacated alley, Block 2, Lay Park Addition to Traverse City, Michigan. (Cancer Center) 4.22 Acres. 
 
 
 

NOTE: THE PARCEL DESCRIPTIONS ABOVE WERE PULLED FROM MANY DIFFERENT SOURCES DATING BACK TO 
1959. THE ACCURACY OF THE DESCRIPTIONS PROVIDED SHOW AREAS OF MATHEMATICAL MIS-CLOSURES AND 
THE BEARING BASIS MAY NOT BE THE SAME FROM ONE DESCRIPTION TO THE OTHER.  

 
 
 









    
 Agenda Item No. 6B  

 

  Communication to the Planning Commission 
 
FOR THE MEETING OF:  July 6, 2016 
 
                FROM:  Russ Soyring, Planning Director 
 

SUBJECT: Site Plan Review 16-SPR-01, 1106, 1120 & 1128 E. Front 
Street 

 
                 DATE:  June 30, 2016 
 
Doug Mansfield, Mansfield Land Use Consultants on behalf of Northporte Development, LLC is 
requesting Site Plan Review for the properties commonly known as 1106, 1120 and 1128 East 
Front Street for a drive-through pharmacy, drive-through coffee shop and retail building. 
 
The proposed development is located on the southeast corner of E. Front Street (US 31)/S. 
Garfield Avenue. The site falls within the area designated as TC-5 “Downtown” Neighborhood 
according to the City Master Plan. The property is zoned C-3. A drive-through pharmacy, drive-
through coffee shop and retail building are uses allowed by right. 
 
The site plan needs to be reviewed by the City Planning Commission since the proposed 
development would generate 2,921 trip ends per day. (The generation of trip ends is 
determined by reference to the latest edition of the Trip Generation manual promulgated by 
the Institute of Transportation Engineers.) Trip end detail by building type are itemized below: 
 
 Drugstore w/ drive 1,077 trip ends per day 
 Coffee w/ drive 1,793 trip ends per day 
 Specialty retail        51 trip ends per day 
 
The Planning Commission shall review the site plan according to the standards in Chapter 1366 
of the Zoning Code. The Planning Commission shall approve or deny the site plan (not the use) 
according to the standards and requirements of the Zoning Code.  
 
Staff reviewed the site plan and finds it to be in conformance with the requirements provided five 
conditions are met as detailed in the attached Staff Report 16-SPR-01. If you agree with staff’s 
assessment, the following motion would be appropriate: 

I move that the request from Doug Mansfield, Mansfield Land Use Consultants on behalf of 
Northporte Development, LLC for Site Plan Review 16-SPR-01 for development of a pharmacy, 
coffee shop and retail building located at 1106, 1120 and 1128 East Front Street be approved with 
conditions as outlined in Site Plan Review Staff Report 16-SPR-01. 

RAS:mll 
 
Attachments:  Site Plan Review Staff Report 16-SPR-01 
 Application and Site Plans 



1106,1120 & 1128 E. Front Street    Page 1 of 8 
16-SPR-01  

          
  Site Plan Review Staff Report  

                   
 
 16-SPR-01: Prepared for property commonly known as 1106,1120 & 1128 E. Front Street 
 
SITE PLAN REQUIREMENTS CHECKLIST 

 
 
Yes 

 
No 

 
 Site plans are required to meet the following requirements: 

 
x 

 
 

 
Filing fee 

 
x 

 
 

 
Sealed by a registered architect or engineer (except site plans to be referred to the 
Planning Commission for approval may defer this requirement until receiving Planning 
Commission approval.)   

 
x 

 
 

 
Drawn to scale with a scale on the plan 

 
x 

 
 

 
Rendered on a minimum sheet size of 24 inches by 36 inches 

 
x 

 
 

 
Legal description 

 
x 

 
 

 
Property lines and dimensions 

 
x 

 
 

 
North arrow 

 
x 

 
 

 
Date 

 
x 

 
 

 
Vicinity map 

 
x 

 
 

 
Property owner’s and applicant’s name and address 

 
x 

 
 

 
Preparer’s name and address 

 
x 

 
 

 
Street names 

 
x 

 
 

 
Existing street and alley widths 
 
The plans show an improved alley on the east side of the project.  City Engineering and the 
developer will be exploring the feasibility of extending the alley south to Civic Center 
Drive.  

 
x 

 
 

 
Location and width of utility easements 

 
x 

 
 

 
Size and location of existing and proposed utilities and building service lines 

 
x 

 
 

 
The zoning classification of the site and surrounding properties and, where applicable, 
the zoning request 

   
 



1106,1120 & 1128 E. Front Street    Page 2 of 8 
16-SPR-01  

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
 Site plans are required to meet the following requirements: 

 x Required setback lines, lot size, lot coverage (impervious surface) and any variance to be 
requested 
 
The buildings are setback 8 feet from the front property line along East Front Street.  This 
meets the minimum required front yard setback for the C-3 District. The side setback (east 
and west) and rear setback (south) meets the required setbacks for the C-3 District (side 
0’, rear 5’).  The Impervious surface for the buildings and parking areas is proposed to be 
at 77.54% which is under the 80% maximum for the C-3 district. 
 
When a new building and parking lot is constructed the minimum driveway spacing 
requirements in the Zoning Code must be met.  A driveway cannot be any closer than 100 
feet (with City Engineer approval) from an existing driveway (§1374.04(c)).  As proposed, 
the reconstructed driveway on Garfield Avenue will be approximately 72 feet from an 
existing driveway to the north (Bardon’s wonder Freeze) and approximately 76 feet from 
an existing driveway to the south.  The applicant will be requesting dimensional variance 
from the Board of Zoning Appeals to allow for the reconstructed driveway to be less than 
100 feet from the existing driveways to the north and south on South Garfield Avenue. 
 
The side yard setback for parking areas and maneuvering lanes is 5 feet in the C-3 District. 
 The plans show the maneuvering lane for the coffee shop drive-through to be on the east 
property line.  This will require a dimensional variance from the Board of Zoning Appeals 
or an adjustment of the width of the maneuvering lanes with a possibility of a reduction in 
the number of parking spaces.  
 

 
 
x 

 
 

 
The size and location of existing buildings and improvements on and adjacent to the 
subject parcel 
 

x  
 The existing building use and proposed building use, location, shape, building height, 

elevations, floor area and unit computations and dimensions and a description of all 
exterior building materials 
 
The proposed project consists of a 1-story, 11,115 square foot pharmacy with a drive-
through, a 2,190 square foot coffee shop with a drive-through, a 1,212 retail building and 
onsite parking for 82 vehicles.  The pharmacy’s exterior walls will be made of masonry 
construction with metal paneling at the entrance.  The coffee shop and retail building will 
be metal wall paneling or cementitious plank siding with a ledgestone veneer base and 
masonry entrances.  The windows will have anodized aluminum frames and clear glazing.  

 
x 

 
 

 
A land use tabulation summary provided in the margin of the plan indicating types of 
uses, acreage for each land use, number of units, densities and land use intensities 

 
x 

 
 

 
The proposed number and location of parking spaces, maneuvering lanes, sidewalks, 
driveways and loading areas, and their dimensions and proposed points of access to the 
site from public streets and alleys.   
 



1106,1120 & 1128 E. Front Street    Page 3 of 8 
16-SPR-01  

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
 Site plans are required to meet the following requirements: 

Pedestrian travel ways adequately serve the proposed development.  Five-foot wide public 
sidewalks are proposed to be reconstructed on private property along East Front Street 
and Garfield Avenue.  Easements from the property owner for public sidewalks on private 
property along East Front Street and Garfield Avenue will need to be provided to the City. 
 
The proposed plans show for an unrestricted driveway on Garfield Avenue a restricted 
driveway on East Front Street (right turn only when exiting) and an unrestricted alley 
connection.  
 
MDOT has reviewed the plans and provided the following comments: 

1.    West driveway: Curb and gutter will be required with the appropriate geometrics to 
restrict the left turn movement out of the development.  Pavement markings alone will 
not be allowed as they do not create the necessary barriers to prohibit this movement.  

2.    East driveway: If the intent is for this to function as a “public alley” that has 
unrestricted movement the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT) will require 
the City of Traverse City to enter into a “Letter of Understanding” with MDOT.  The Letter 
of Understanding will require the City to make the necessary changes, as dictated by 
MDOT, to the public alley if a safety issue, as determined by MDOT, occurs as a result of 
the unrestricted use at this location. The Letter of Understanding is required in lieu of the 
Traffic Impact Study requested by MDOT as a result of changes to the agreed upon 
driveway configurations from October of 2014.   

 
x 

 
 

 
The proposed location and dimensions of site drainage areas, walkways, landscaped 
areas, recreation areas, open space and screen walls. 
 
The applicant shall meet the requirements of the Storm Water Runoff Control Ordinance.  
Pedestrian travel ways adequately serve the proposed development.  Easements from the 
property owner for public sidewalks on private property along East Front Street and 
Garfield Avenue will need to be provided to the City. 

 
x 

 
 

 
Natural features, such as unique topographic features, wetlands, 100-year flood plain 
elevations, creeks, springs and others, with an indication as to which are proposed to be 
maintained, altered or removed during site development. 
 
No natural features are noted and the parcel(s) are not within the 100-year floodplain, or 
adjacent to any creeks or springs.  

 
x 

 
 

 
Any other information necessary to establish compliance with City ordinances. 
 
The applicant has stated that there will be both parking lot and exterior building lighting.  
All lighting will be dark sky compliant and be shielded from neighboring properties and 
streets. 



1106,1120 & 1128 E. Front Street    Page 4 of 8 
16-SPR-01  

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
 Site plans are required to meet the following requirements: 

 
x 

 
 

 
Landscaping - meets landscaping requirements of Chapter 1372. 
 
The size, type, placement and screening meet the requirements of Chapter 1372.  The 
zoning code requires that 8% of the parking area have internal landscaping.  The proposed 
project is providing 12% internal landscaping in the parking lot. 
 

 
x 

 
 

 
Parking - meets parking requirements of Chapter 1374. 
 
The proposed pharmacy falls within the maximum and minimum requirements of Chapter 
1374. The minimum amount of parking spaces required is 56 spaces.  The maximum 
amount of parking spaces allowed is 103 spaces.  The project is proposing to have 82 
parking spaces.  
 
When a new building and parking lot is constructed the minimum driveway spacing 
requirements in the Zoning Code must be met.  A driveway cannot be any closer than 100 
feet (with City Engineer approval) from an existing driveway (§1374.04(c)).  As proposed, 
the reconstructed driveway on Garfield Avenue will be approximately 72 feet from an 
existing driveway to the north (Bardon’s wonder Freeze) and approximately 76 feet from 
an existing driveway to the south.  The applicant will be requesting dimensional variance 
from the Board of Zoning Appeals to allow for the reconstructed driveway to be less than 
100 feet from the existing driveways to the north and south on South Garfield Avenue. 
 
The side yard setback for parking areas and maneuvering lanes is 5 feet in the C-3 District. 
 The plans show the maneuvering lane for the coffee shop drive-through to be on the east 
property line.  This will require a dimensional variance from the Board of Zoning Appeals 
or an adjustment of the width of the maneuvering lanes with a possibility of a reduction in 
the number of parking spaces.  
 
Bicycle racks shall meet the requirements of Section 1374.029(c). 
 

 
 
 CHECKLIST OF STANDARDS 

 FOR GRANTING SITE PLAN APPROVAL    
 
Yes 

 
No 

 
The Planning Commission or Planning Director must consider the following standards for 
granting site plan approval.   These items must be indicated on the site plan. 

 
x 

 
 

 
Primary structures shall be oriented so that their main entrance faces the street upon 
which the lot fronts.  If the development is on a corner lot, the main entrance may be 
oriented to either street or to the corner. 
 
The pharmacy, retail building and the coffee shop will each have an entrance facing East 



1106,1120 & 1128 E. Front Street    Page 5 of 8 
16-SPR-01  

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
The Planning Commission or Planning Director must consider the following standards for 
granting site plan approval.   These items must be indicated on the site plan. 
Front Street with the coffee shop and retail building having the ability to provide an 
additional entrance if needed.  

 
 x 

 
 

 
All roof-mounted equipment, including satellite dishes and other communication 
equipment, must be screened from recreation trails or from public sidewalks adjacent to 
the site by a parapet wall or similar architectural feature.  
 
Roof-mounted equipment is not shown in the elevations or the plan view drawings. A flat 
roof with a parapet is planned for all of the buildings.   Any rooftop equipment will need 
to be screened and meet the requirements of section 1342.09(m).   

 
x 

 
 

 
Reasonable visual and sound mitigation for all dwelling units shall be provided.  Fences, 
walks, barriers and landscaping shall be used appropriately for the protection and 
enhancement of property and for the privacy of its occupants. 
 
No dwellings are proposed with this project. 

 
x 

 
 

 
Every principal building or groups of buildings shall be so arranged as to permit 
emergency access by some practical means to all sides. 
 
The project is accessed from two streets and an alley. 

 
x 

 
 

 
Every development shall have legal access to a public or private street. 
 

 
x 

 
 The development, where possible, shall provide vehicular and pedestrian circulation 

systems which reflect and extend the pattern of streets, pedestrian and bicycle ways in 
the area.  Travel ways which connect and serve adjacent development shall be designed 
appropriately to carry the projected traffic. 
 
Pedestrian travel ways adequately serve the proposed development.  Five-foot wide public 
sidewalks are proposed to be reconstructed on private property along East Front Street 
and Garfield Avenue.  Easements from the property owner for public sidewalks on private 
property along East Front Street and Garfield Avenue will need to be provided to the City. 

x  
 A pedestrian circulation system shall be provided which is physically separated and 

insulated as reasonably possible from the vehicular circulation system. 
 
The buildings will have direct access from the public walk to the main entry without the 
need to travel through a parking lot. 

 
x 

 
 

 
All parking areas shall be designed to facilitate safe and efficient vehicular and pedestrian 
circulation, minimize congestion at points of access and egress to intersecting roads, to 
encourage the appropriate use of alleys and minimize the negative visual impact of such 
parking areas.  
 
The driveway that enters Garfield Avenue will need a dimensional variance from the 
Board of Zoning Appeals due to its proximity to the existing drives to the north and south. 
 MDOT provided the following response. 



1106,1120 & 1128 E. Front Street    Page 6 of 8 
16-SPR-01  

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
The Planning Commission or Planning Director must consider the following standards for 
granting site plan approval.   These items must be indicated on the site plan. 
 

1.    West driveway: Curb and gutter will be required with the appropriate geometrics to 
restrict the left turn movement out of the development.  Pavement markings alone will 
not be allowed as they do not create the necessary barriers to prohibit this movement.  

2.    East driveway: If the intent is for this to function as a “public alley” that has 
unrestricted movement the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT) will require 
the City of Traverse City to enter into a “Letter of Understanding” with MDOT.  The Letter 
of Understanding will require the City to make the necessary changes, as dictated by 
MDOT, to the public alley if a safety issue, as determined by MDOT, occurs as a result of 
the unrestricted use at this location. The Letter of Understanding is required in lieu of the 
Traffic Impact Study requested by MDOT as a result of changes to the agreed upon 
driveway configurations from October of 2014. 

 
x 

 
 

 
Where the opportunity exists, developments shall use shared drives.  Unnecessary curb 
cuts shall not be permitted. 
 
There are currently four driveways on East Front Street and one driveway on Garfield 
Avenue.  The proposal would eliminate two driveways on East Front improve an existing 
alley right-of-way and reconstruct the driveway on Garfield Avenue.  City Engineering and 
the developer will be exploring the feasibility of extending the alley south to Civic Center 
Drive. 

 
X 

 
 

 
All loading and unloading areas and outside storage areas, including areas for the storage 
of trash, which are visible from residential districts or public rights-of-way shall be 
screened by a vertical screen consisting of structural and/or plant materials not less than 
six feet in height. 
 
There are no proposed loading and unloading areas for this project.  Deliveries will occur 
in the maneuvering lane of the parking lot.  There are two dumpster areas located on the 
south side of the property surrounded by 6 foot tall fences.  
 
The buildings and landscaping will screen most of the parking lot from East Front Street.  
Landscaping and a 6 foot tall screen wall will screen the parking lot from Garfield Avenue.  

X  
 Exterior light sources shall be deflected downward and away from adjacent properties 

and rights-of-way and shall not violate night sky provisions of the Traverse City Code of 
Ordinances. 
 
The applicant has stated that there will be both parking lot and exterior building lighting.  
All lighting will be dark sky compliant and be shielded from neighboring properties and 
streets. 

X  
 Adequate utilities shall be provided to properly serve the development.  All utilities shall 

be placed underground. 
 
There are adequate utilities to serve the development.  All utilities will be placed 
underground.  The applicant will need to provide a site utility plan meeting the 



1106,1120 & 1128 E. Front Street    Page 7 of 8 
16-SPR-01  

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
The Planning Commission or Planning Director must consider the following standards for 
granting site plan approval.   These items must be indicated on the site plan. 
requirements of the City Engineer as a part of the permit process.  
 

 
X 

 
 Sites at which hazardous substances and potential pollutants are stored, used or 

generated shall be designed to prevent spills and discharges to the air, surface of the 
ground, groundwater, lakes, streams, rivers or wetlands. 
 
No hazardous substances will be generated with this project. 

 
1344.09 SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS: 

 
 

(a) The predominant building wall and entryway shall face the public or private street. 
 

The pharmacy, retail building and the coffee shop all have one entrance facing East Front Street with the 
coffee shop and retail building having the ability to provide an additional entrance if needed or if  they are 
no longer there. 

 
(b) Unless determined to be impractical, by the Planning Director, the building width shall not be less than 60 

percent of the property width at the street. 
 

The buildings occupy 69.7 percent of the property width at the street. 
 

(c) Vertical building modulation shall be used to add variety and interest and to make a large building appear 
to be an aggregation of smaller units.  Relief from a continuous street facing wall may be achieved with 
wall offsets in combination with pilasters, corbeling or other permanent architectural elements; however, 
offsets in any wall shall not be less than eight inches from the subject plane. 

  
The project is a collection of 3 buildings with long axis of the pharmacy running north and south. The coffee 
shop will be stepped back from the retail building and incorporate a covered patio at the sidewalks edge. 

 
(d) Horizontal building modulation shall be used to reduce the perceived mass of a large building.  Horizontal 

awnings, balconies, and roof features should be incorporated into new developments provided that their 
appearance varies through the use of color, materials, size and location. 

 
Fabric or slatted steel sunshades are planned above the windows and doors for the coffee shop and retail 
building.  

 
(e) Except for buildings that are solely residential, windows or street level activities are required on 40 

percent of the first story street wall facing any public street.  Street level activities include public display 
space, public atriums, pedestrian entrances and interior circulation and windows with views into any 
designated street level use. 

 
Along Garfield Avenue the window percentage for the pharmacy is 40%, 46% for the retail store and 42% 
for the coffee shop.  



1106,1120 & 1128 E. Front Street    Page 8 of 8 
16-SPR-01  

 
(f) Clear or lightly tinted transparent glass shall be used for all windows facing a public street. Decorative 

stained glass may be used for accents.   Mirrored, smoked and darkly tinted glass is prohibited. 
 

The windows for all the buildings will have anodized aluminum frames and clear glazing. 
 

(g) Street-facing building facades shall incorporate permanent architectural elements which create shadow 
patterns and surface textures which, in turn, enhance visual interest. 

 
Met. 

 
(h) Any rooftop equipment shall be enclosed or screened from street level view using the same materials used 

for the building walls or a material which is approved by the Planning Director as visually compatible with 
the building.  
 
Roof-mounted equipment is not shown in the elevations or the plan view drawings. A flat roof with a 
parapet is planned for all of the buildings.   Any rooftop equipment will need to be screened and meet 
the requirements of section 1342.09(m).   

 
(i) All buildings that front the street, except for parking structures, accessory and utility buildings and 

buildings that are intended and designed to be exclusively developed for residential use shall have a 
minimum height of 15 feet measured from the street level entrance level to the next finished level or roof 
structure. The Planning Director may grant a first floor building height exception if it has been clearly 
demonstrated that such provision is unnecessary or that such requirements would create a practical 
difficulty, as contrasted merely granting an advantage or convenience. 

 
The pharmacy has a height of 19.5 feet to the top of roof.  The retail building and the coffee shop have a 
height of 15 feet to the top of roof. 
 

Staff recommends that 15-SPR-03 for the property commonly known as 305 West Front Street be 
approved provided the following conditions are met.  
 
1. All three parcels are combined. 

 
2. The necessary variances from the Board of Zoning Appeals are granted.  

 
3. A Letter of Understanding with M.D.O.T. will require the City, and be paid for by the property 

owner, to make the necessary changes, as dictated by MDOT, to the public alley if a safety 
issue, as determined by MDOT, occurs as a result of the unrestricted use at this location. 

 
4. Any rooftop equipment will need to be screened and meet the requirements of section 

1342.09(m).   
 

5. Bicycle racks shall meet the requirements of Section 1374.029(c). 
 

 
 













Level 1
0' - 0"

Parapet
18' - 2"

Upper Parapet
19' - 6"

COVERED
PATIO

COVERED PATIO-
STEEL STRUCTURE 
WITH FLAT ROOF

STARBUCKS 
WALL SIGNAGE
(15.9 S.F.)

DRIVE THRU
WINDOW

FABRIC OR SLATTED 
STEEL SUN SHADES

CANTILEVERED
ROOF 

LEDGESTONE VENEER

LIMESTONE SILL

METAL WALL PANEL
OR HARDIE PLANK SIDING

PARAPET WALL WITH 
PRECAST CAP

TRIM BOARD BANDING

TRIM BOARD BANDING

SLATTED WOOD4' - 6"

Level 1
0' - 0"

Parapet
18' - 2"

Upper Parapet
19' - 6"

STARBUCKS LOGO
WALL SIGNAGE
(15.9 S.F.)

WALL SIGNAGE (30 S.F.)

CANTILEVERED
ROOF

FABRIC OR SLATTED
STEEL SUN SHADES

LEDGESTONE VENEER

LIMESTONE SILL

METAL WALL PANEL
OR HARDIE PLANK SIDING

PARAPET WALL WITH 
PRECAST CAP

TRIM BOARD BANDING

TRIM BOARD BANDING

LEDGESTONE VENEER

LIMESTONE SILL

METAL WALL PANEL
OR HARDIE PLANK SIDING

PARAPET WALL WITH 
PRECAST CAP

TRIM BOARD BANDING

TRIM BOARD BANDING

SLATTED WOOD4' - 6"

Level 1
0' - 0"

Parapet
18' - 2"

Upper Parapet
19' - 6"

CANTILEVERED
ROOF

WALL SIGNAGE (31.6 S.F.) WALL SIGNAGE (35 S.F.)

FABRIC OR SLATTED 
STEEL SUN SHADES

COVERED PATIO-
STEEL STRUCTURE 
WITH FLAT ROOF

LEDGESTONE VENEER

LIMESTONE SILL

METAL WALL PANEL
OR HARDIE PLANK SIDING

PARAPET WALL WITH 
PRECAST CAP

TRIM BOARD BANDING

TRIM BOARD BANDINGCANOPY SIGNAGE
(6 S.F. MAX PER 
ORDINANCE) 3'

 - 
6"

10' - 0"

INDOOR/OUTDOOR
FIREPLACE

Level 1
0' - 0"

Parapet
18' - 2"

Upper Parapet
19' - 6"

DRIVE THRU 
LANE

LEDGESTONE VENEER

LIMESTONE SILL

METAL WALL PANEL
OR HARDIE PLANK SIDING

PARAPET WALL WITH 
PRECAST CAP

CANTILEVERED
ROOF 

CANTILEVERED
ROOF 

FABRIC OR SLATTED 
STEEL SUN SHADES

TRIM BOARD BANDING

TRIM BOARD BANDING

SLATTED WOOD SLATTED WOOD
WALL SIGNAGE (35 S.F. MAX)

TR
AV

ER
SE

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TU

R
E

G
R

O
U

P
83

0 
C

ot
ta

ge
vi

ew
 D

r.,
 S

te
. 2

01
P.

O
. B

ox
 4

01
5

Tr
av

er
se

 C
ity

, M
I 4

96
85

Ph
: 2

31
-9

46
-9

94
0 

Fa
x:

 2
31

-9
46

-8
92

6

PRELIMINARY

CONSTRUCTION

FINAL RECORD

DRAWING HISTORY

DATE DESCRIPTION

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE:

JOB NO.:

SHEET #

A2.0

E
XT

E
R

IO
R

 E
LE

VA
TI

O
N

S

15131

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 S
TA

R
B

U
C

K
S

6-16-2016

RMM

OWNER

S
ec

ti
on

 1
,  T

ow
n 

3
7 

N
or

th
, R

a n
ge

 1
1 

W
es

t
C

it
y  

of
 T

r a
ve

rs
e  

C
it

y,
 G

ra
nd

 T
ra

ve
rs

e 
C

o u
nt

y,
 M

ic
hi

ga
n

&
 A

D
JA

C
E

N
T 

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 1/4" = 1'-0"1 East Elevation

 1/4" = 1'-0"2 West Elevation

 1/4" = 1'-0"3 North Elevation

 1/4" = 1'-0"4 South Elevation





       Memorandum 
       

           Grand Traverse County 
     Planning and Development        

                                                  231.922.4513  Fax 231.922.4636 
                                                        email: jderenzy@grandtraverse.org 

  
  
  
To:   City Planning Commission / DDA Board of Directors    
 
From:   Jean Derenzy, Deputy Director Planning & Development / 

Community Development   
 
Date:   June 14, 2016  
 
Subject:   Community Development Update       
 

June Update: 
 
Project News: 
 
The following is an update on some of the Community Development activities throughout 
the City and County: 
  
145 West Front Street:   After years of planning, the City Commission has exercised their 
option at 145 West Front Street.   As Board members are aware, substantial work was 
completed both through a parking committee and staff to negotiate the best property 
purchase package for the City/DDA.   There still remains steps to complete before closing 
in July being: 

• $700,000 DEQ loan for 124 West Front.  I am currently putting 
together application and working with DEQ. 

• Amend Local Work Plan for non-environmental activities at 124 
West Front Street to be approved by Brownfield Authority.     

 
Approval to exercise option occurred on June 6, with closing to occur within 30 days.    
 
Envision 8th – Charrette:   The 8th Street Charrette is continuing with discussion on form-
based code.   Additional components are needed in order to help with the writing of the 
code.   I am working with City Planner, Russ Soyring and the Consultant Farr and 
Associates on the calendaring of public events and hope to have firm dates by your 
meeting on Friday. 
  
West Boardman Lake:   Consultants were in Traverse City to show the three preferred 
designs.   There is a survey which will be opened until July 8, 2016.   The survey can be 
found at this link:    
https://docs.google.com/forms/d/1_o-
hXjuxPyWiZJGh62ul4I7j3vhZoVZ_yYhH9zaso0k/formResponse 
 
Input is needed and I ask DDA members to share this link and encourage people to have 
provide their comments. 
 

 

https://docs.google.com/forms/d/1_o-hXjuxPyWiZJGh62ul4I7j3vhZoVZ_yYhH9zaso0k/formResponse
https://docs.google.com/forms/d/1_o-hXjuxPyWiZJGh62ul4I7j3vhZoVZ_yYhH9zaso0k/formResponse


Community Development Report 
June 14, 2016/Page 2 
 
  
Park Place Conference Center:   Discussions with the Park Place focus right now solely 
on the conference center.   The impact to Downtown with the conference center have a 
significant return on investment and therefore my focus will be on this component of the 
redevelopment.   Components relating to the public infrastructure around the conference 
center will be part of the Brownfield Plan to be considered.  I will be working with Tim 
Lodge, City Engineering and Rob Bacigalupi, DDA Director to determine public 
infrastructure needs within this area of the DDA. 
 
Traverse City Place Brownfield Plan – 5/3 Third Property:   Both Rob and I met with 
Thom and Nick Darga on Monday, June 13 to review possible partnership with the 
redevelopment of the 5/3rd parking lot.   This property is currently contained in the Traverse 
City Place Brownfield Plan (map attached).   Staff will be working with the Darga’s over the 
next 90 days on this new development potential.    
 
Should you have any questions feel free to call me at 922-4513, or email at 
jderenzy@grandtraverse.org. 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:jderenzy@grandtraverse.org


Land Use Ordinance Matrix 
Below is a reference table that summarizes the uses in the Ordinance. The uses below are generalized. Those marked with an asterisk have specifications under which they are allowed. Refer to the ordinace for a more detailed explanation. 
A= Allowed
S=Special Permit Needed
*= See Ordinance for more detailed requirements and specifications 

USE CLASSIFICATIONS OS RC R‐1 R‐2 R‐9,15,29 HR C‐1 C‐2 C‐3 C‐4 D‐1,2,3 T GP I NMC‐1 NMC‐2 H‐1 H‐2
Residential uses
Adult foster care family home (6 adults max) A A A A A A A A A A A* A  A 
Adult foster care small group home (7‐12 adults) S S S A A A A A A A A* A A
Boat houses* A* A* A* A* A* A* A* A* A* A* A* A* A* A* A*
Dormitories A* A* A A
Dwellings, accessory units* A* A*
Dwellings, clustered single family  A*  S S A A
Dwellings, multiple family  A A A A A A A A* A A A A
Dwellings, single family  A A A A A A A A A A A* A A A A
Dwellings, two‐family A A A A A A A A A* A A A A
Emergency shelters S S S S S S S
Essential services buildings S S S S S S S S S S A A A S A S S
Essential services without buildings A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A
Group day care homes  S S S A A A A A A* A A A
Home occupations* A* A* A* A* A A A A A A A* A* A* A A
Hospitality houses A A
Private clubs, lodges, fraternities or sororities * A* A* A* A* A* A* A* A* A* A*
Residential care and treatment facilities S S S S S A A
Rooming houses A A A A A A A A A A
Temporary accessory dwelling units S S
Transitional housing S S S S S A A A S S S S
Agricultural uses
Medical marihuana cultivation facility A*
Medical marihuana cultivation * A* A* A* A* A* A* A* A* A* A* A* A*
Public and Community Uses
Administration of economic programs A A A A
Administration of human resources programs A A A A
Art Galleries* A* A* A* A A A A A A* A* A*
Athletic Fields A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A
Auditoriums A A A A A* A*
Boat liveries A A A A A A A A* A A
Cemeteries A A A A
Colleges & Universities A* A
Community gardens A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A
Convention centers A S A
Cultural facilities  A A A A A A A* A*
Executive, legislative & general government uses* A A A A
Golf courses  A A A A A A A A A A A A A* A A



Health services A* A* A* A* A* A* A* A A
Hospitals and medical centers A
Libraries A A A A
Marinas A A A A A
Markets public or municipal A A
Medical care facilities  A
National security &international affairs A A A A
Outdoor public swimming pools A A A A A
Parking  areas, private A*
Parking areas, Public  A  A A* A* 
Parking structures* A* A* A* A* A
Parks A A A A A A A A A A A A A A
Places of Worship  S S S A A A A A A A A A A A
Playgrounds A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A
Preschools A A A A A*
Public Administration* A A A A A A* A
Public works facilities A A A A
Recreational facilities A A A A A A A A A A A A
Schools  S S S S S S S A* A
Schools for the handicapped  A A
Social services A A A A A A A A*
Theaters/performance art centers* A* A* S A A* A* A A* A*
Tourist homes (Bed & Breakfast) A* A* A* A* A A A A A A A A A
United States Postal Service  A A A
Commercial Uses
Amusement and recreation services A A
Brew pubs A A A A A*
Business services A  A  A A A  A *
Coffee houses  A* A* A* A A A A A* A* A*
Communication establishments A A A
Communication towers  S S S S S S S S S S S
Convenience stores A A A A A*
Day care facilities S S S A A A A A A*
Drinking places* A* A* A* A* A* A*
Drive‐throughs* A
Educational services* A* A* A* A* A* A* A* A*
Electronics stores* A A A A A*
Engineering, accounting, research, management* A A A A A A*
Finance, insurance, and real estate services* A A A A A A*
Finance services with drive throughs A* S* S*
Finance, taxation & monetary services, public A A
Florists A A A A A* A A
Fruit and vegetable markets* A A A A A*
Funeral Services A* A* A* A* A* A*
Gift shops A A A A A A* A* A*
Grocery stores A A  A A A*



Hardware stores A A A A A*
Health Services A* A* A* A* A* A* A*
Kennels* A* A* A*
Laundromats  A A A A A*
Lodging facilities A A A A
Mailing services A A A A A A* A* A*
Marinas  A A A A A*
Medical Marihuana Collective* A A A A
Membership organizations A A A A A A*
Microbrewery A A A A A*
Movie Rental stores A A  A A A*
News dealers and news stands A A A A A*
Offices  A* A A A A A A* A* A*
Orthopedic stores A A A A A* A*
Parcel packing services A A A A A*
Personal Services* A* A* A* A* A* A*
Pet boarding and grooming services* A* A* A* 
Pet grooming services* A* A* A* A* A*
Pharmacies* A A A A A* A*
Printing (commercial) A A
Repair services* A A A A A A*
Restaurants A* A A* A* A* A* A* A* A* A* A* A*
Retail trade A A
Security Services* A* A A A A A*
Service stations A A A A A*
Stores, retail, miscellaneous A* A A A A A*
Theatrical producers A A A A A* A
Vacation Home Rentals* A A A A A A A*
Veterinary Services* A A A A A A A* A* A*
Wind Energy Pole/Tower ‐mount S S S S S S S S
Wind Energy Building‐Mount S S S S S S S S S S S S
Industrial Uses
Auto Repair A
Communications establishments A
Communication towers  S S S S S S S
Construction, special trades A
Contractors* A* A* A* A
Crematories* A
Cutting plastics, leather. Etc. A
Electrical & utilities services & sewage systems* A A
Environmental quality & housing program administration A A
Equipment rental and leasing A A A
Fuel dealers A
Lumber yards A
Manufacturing or processing* A
Metal slitting and shearing A



Motor freight transportation and warehousing A
Nurseries A
Pressure container filling A
Primary metal industries* A
Scrap steel cutting A
Sign painting shops A
Testing and laboratory services
Vocational schools
Warehousing A A A
Weighing foods and other commodities  A
Wholesale trade* A
Transportation 
Air transportation  A
Airport clear zones  A A A A A
Landing areas A S S
Motorized vehicle dealers* A A
Passenger transportations  services A
Transit centers S S S S S
Transportation service
Vehicle wash facilities* A* A*
Water transportation A


	2016_0706PlanningAgenda
	2016_0607PlanningMinutes
	2016_0621PlanningMinutes
	Establishment of Traffic Calming Committee
	Project Review Consistency with Master Plan Brown Bridge East Bridge
	Planning Commission Request Letter
	East End Bridge Info for City Planning
	MMC Master Site and Facility Plan 2016
	Munson 5 year development plan memo6-30-16
	MMC Master plan narrative
	Master Plan Legal Description 6-2016
	2016 Munson Master Plan to City
	Site Plan Review_Starbucks Rite Aid
	SitePlanChecklist_RiteAid&starbucks
	Rite Aid Starbucks SPR application
	20160617_Submittal Set_15131
	16-06-16 Starbucks Elevations2
	Sheets
	A2.0 - EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	A2.1 - EXTERIOR PERSPECTIVES


	16-06-16 Rite Aid Elevations
	06.14.16
	Zoning Ordinance Matrix Dave edits



